NO. 46735-6-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KITSAP COUNTY CORRECTIONAL OFFICERS' GUILD, INC.,

Appellant,

v.

PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS COMMISSION,

Appellant,

v.

KITSAP COUNTY and KITSAP COUNTY SHERIFF,

Respondents.

PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS COMMISSION'S OPENING BRIEF

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Mark S. Lyon Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 12169 7141 Cleanwater Lane SW P.O. Box 40108 Olympia, WA 98504-0108 (360) 753-6238

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES

A. Assignments of Error

- 1. The trial court erred in holding that there were no material facts in dispute and granting summary judgment.²
- 2. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment to Kitsap County holding that the October 2011 decision to layoff two employees effective January 1, 2012 for the purpose of reducing labor costs is not a mandatory subject of bargaining where the record, viewed in favor of the Guild, shows the proposed budget reduction was preliminary at the time of the decision, the actual budget was not adopted until December 2011, the Guild promptly requested an opportunity to meet and bargain alternative cost saving measures, and the County had on other occasions negotiated reductions in labor costs with unions to avoid layoffs.

² Because on appeal of summary judgment findings and conclusions entered by the court are superfluous and the court reviews the record de novo, PERC does not attribute error to specific findings reached by the trial court.

- 3. The trial court erred because the law required a fact specific balancing of the interests explaining how requiring the County to bargain alternatives to reduce labor costs in lieu of proposed layoffs placed a burden upon the County budgeting process which outweighs the benefits and purposes of the Public Employees Collective Bargaining Act, where layoffs directly impact employee wages, hours and working conditions.
- 4. Assuming that the summary judgment is not reversed, trial court erred when, after declaring that the decision to layoff employees was not a mandatory subject of bargaining, it did not address the County's underlying unfair labor practice claim and enter an appropriate order to remedy the Guild's failure to bargain in good faith by pressing to impasse proposals on a permissive subject.

B. Issues Relating to the Assignments of Error

- Is the layoff of two employees, motivated by the County employer's desire to reduce labor costs to meet a budget reduction, a mandatory subject of bargaining?
- 2. Are there sufficient undisputed facts in the current record to permit the court to grant summary judgment utilizing the fact-specific balancing test required to determine whether the layoff of two jail employees was a mandatory subject of bargaining?

3. Where the record shows that the determination whether the layoffs are mandatory subjects of bargaining means that either the County or the Guild engaged in a refusal to bargain in good faith amounting to an unfair labor practice under Chapter 41.56 RCW, should the trial court have imposed a remedial order consistent with the standard remedies under RCW 41.56.160?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case returns to the Court of Appeals following a previous remand. *Kitsap Cnty. v. Kitsap Cnty. Corr. Officers' Guild, Inc.*, 179 Wn. App. 987, 320 P.3d 70 (2014).

This action arises from Kitsap County's decision to layoff two correctional officers to reduce labor costs. The officers' union, the Kitsap County Correctional Officers' Guild, Inc. (Guild), demanded to bargain the decision to layoff the officers. The County agreed to bargain the effects of the layoffs but not the decision.

Kitsap County's jail is operated by the Kitsap County Sheriff, an independently elected officer of Kitsap County. CP 394, 598. The Sheriff's Office is divided into a number of functional divisions, including the Corrections Division which operates the jail. CP 597. In 2011, the jail employed approximately 74 officers, 9 sergeants and two lieutenants.³ Id.

Ned Newlin is Chief of Corrections. Under the Sheriff's oversight, Newlin is responsible for management of the jail operations, including hiring and layoffs. CP 597. Newlin also represents the Sheriff's Office in collective bargaining with the jail's unionized employees. *Id.* Newlin is assisted in collective bargaining by Fernando Conill, a Kitsap County labor relations manager. CP 577.

The correctional officers are represented in collective bargaining by the Kitsap County Correctional Officers' Guild, Inc., which employs the law firm of Cline & Casillas. Terry Cousins is the president of the Attorney Chris Casillas represented the Guild in Guild. CP 634. negotiations about the layoffs. CP 653.

The County maintains that the layoffs were precipitated by reduction in jail budget revenue for 2012 as a result of the County budgeting process.⁴ CP 599, 604. The size of the Sheriff Office's budget is determined through the annual County budgeting process. The timing

³ In 2012, following the layoff of the two employees at issue, the jail had 72

officers. ⁴ The extent of this reduction is unclear from the record. Newlin indicated in his email to employees that while jail revenue had decreased more, the budget was cut by \$513,000. CP 603-604, 644, 650. In his first declaration, he indicates that jail revenue was reduced by \$935,000 for 2012. CP 599. In a second declaration, he states that the jail *budget* was reduced by that amount. CP 332.

and steps of this process is generally set out in statute RCW 36.40.010-.080. For the 2012 budget the process was initiated by the call letter in July 2011 (CP 389, 398), followed by the submission of the proposed Sheriff's budget (including the jail) in August 2011. CP 599, 603. When the Sheriff submitted the proposed budget to County staff, the proposal does not appear to have included the elimination of the two jail positions.⁵ CP 644. Sometime in October the Sheriff learned that the as-yet unpublished preliminary County budget would contain additional cuts to the Sheriff's Office (including the jail).⁶ While the County is required to publish a preliminary budget for public comment and hearing, this was not available to the public or the Guild until mid-November. CP 649. Public hearing on the 2012 preliminary budget was scheduled for December 5, 2011. CP 649. The final 2012 budget was not adopted until December 12, 2012. CP 434.

On October 24, 2011, Newlin met with two jail officers to inform them that they were "on the bubble" for a potential layoff on January 1, 2012. CP 644. That same day, Newlin also sent an email to all jail employees represented by the Guild announcing the layoffs and the

⁵ The record is silent as to what was contained in this proposal or whether it was communicated to the Guild.

⁶ The record is also silent on the timing and nature of this preliminary communication, but it apparently prompted the Sheriff's Executive Staff to put together over a "few days" a package of additional cuts, including the layoff of the two correctional officers. CP 604, 650.

reasons for them. CP 599, 603. Newlin did not provide separate notice to the Union representatives until after the announcement.⁷ CP 635.

The stated reason for the layoffs was to cut labor costs. As stated by Newlin:

In order to reduce expenditures, I reduced our labor costs through two layoffs, cut an open position and reduced maintenance staff by .75 FTE. The labor savings was about one-third the total necessary cuts.

CP 332; See CP 603-604.

Upon learning of the proposed layoffs, on October 25, 2011, the Guild provided written demands to bargain, including the "decision." CP 606, 646. The Guild renewed these requests on December 2 and December 17, 2011. CP 667, 669.

Almost immediately, the County took the position that it would bargain over the impacts of the layoff, but not the layoff decision itself. As early as October 26, 2011, during a meeting with the Guild president, "Chief Newlin agreed to discuss the impacts of the layoffs as they had done in the past, but did not agree to bargain the decision." CP 599.

 $^{^7}$ The County maintains that the Guild should have been aware of potential layoffs. CP 578. The Guild maintains that it did not have specific notice of the number of employees proposed for layoff or the timing until the announcement was made to employees. CP 635. There is virtually no specific factual information in the record on this point. However, given the previous procedural history of the case, the question of whether notice or a demand to bargain should have been provided earlier is no longer material.

Although the parties had several meetings,⁸ notably on November 8, 2011,⁹ and continued to communicate by email regarding the Guild's request to bargain,¹⁰ the County remained steadfast in its position that it would not bargain the decision to layoff employees.¹¹ CP 58, 98. Bargaining was limited to voluntary layoff procedures and changes in duties as a consequence of the layoffs. CP 58.

On December 17, 2011, shortly after adoption of the County budget, the Guild again sent an email asserting that refusal to bargain the layoff decision was an unfair labor practice "but the Guild would still like to engage the County in decisional bargaining on this issue in order to find a mutually agreeable resolution." CP 667. No other communications on decision bargaining subsequently occurred. CP 638.

Layoff notices the employees two were sent to on November 28, 2011 employment their terminated and on January 1, 2012 — 76 days after they and the Guild were first notified of the potential layoff. CP 600, 638.

⁸ Meetings regarding the effects of the layoffs occurred on October 26, November 8, December 21 and December 30, 2011. CP 58.

⁹ See Cousins ¶¶ 13, 14 [CP 636]; Newlin ¶ 13 [CP 600]; Conill ¶ 6 [CP 578].

¹⁰ Emails were exchanged between the parties regarding the demand to bargain on October 25, December 1, December 2, December 13 and December 17, 2011. CP 649, 662, 663, 667.

¹¹ During this period, the County also maintained that unspecified additional Corrections Officers might need to be laid off "depending on the Corrections Division's still-developing 2012 revenue picture." CP 586.

On December 21, 2011, the County and Sheriff filed the present court action for declaratory judgment. The County sought a declaratory judgment in superior court stating that layoffs are a permissive bargaining subject and the Guild committed an unfair labor practice when it demanded to bargain the decision. CP 772. The Guild filed a crossmotion for summary judgment seeking (1) a declaration that layoffs are a mandatory bargaining subject and (2) an injunction against further layoffs without bargaining. CP 763-765. The trial court granted declaratory judgment in the County's favor. The Guild appealed.

On appeal, the County asserted that the Guild had waived its right to bargain through its expired collective bargaining agreement, and by past conduct. The court of appeals rejected these waiver arguments. *Kitsap Cnty.*, 179 Wn. App. at 996-997. The Guild argued that the Trial court erred in finding that the decision to layoff the two employees was not a mandatory subject of bargaining. *Id.* at 997. On March 13, 2014, the Court of Appeals, Division II entered a decision holding:

The trial court in this case . . . failed to balance on the record the County's management prerogatives against the layoffs' impact on working conditions. Arguably, the layoffs heavily impact employees' working conditions, but, on these facts, the County's duty to implement a budget weighs on the management prerogative side of the balance. With such significant interests on each side of the balance, it is important that the trial court carefully consider the

specific facts of this case and balance the competing interests.

The trial court erred when it failed to conduct the balancing test to determine whether the layoffs in this situation are mandatory or permissive bargaining subjects. We remand for the trial court to engage in the balancing analysis.

Id. at 999.

Following remand, PERC (not previously a party) was granted intervention.¹² CP 162. PERC argued below, as it does here, that the record was inadequate for summary judgment but that the current record and case law suggest that the layoff was undertaken solely to reduce labor cost, a subject appropriate for mandatory bargaining. CP 143, 154-156. PERC further requested that once a determination was made on the mandatory subject of bargaining issue that the court proceed to resolve the underlying unfair labor practice claims, and issue an appropriate remedy, consistent with PERC's practice. CP 157-158, 215.

After additional briefing and affidavits,¹³ the superior court again granted summary judgment to Kitsap County, finding that the layoff

¹² PERC was not a party or participant in the previous proceedings, and did not learn of the case until the court of appeals decision was published.

¹³ While adding some marginal facts regarding the decision to conduct layoffs, the declarations submitted by the Guild and County primarily address an argument that the reduction in correctional staff affected the safety and other working conditions of the remaining employees. While declarations filed during the first superior court proceeding referenced safety discussions [*see* CP 600], this issue was not given attention on appeal. PERC leaves argument of whether the safety issue by itself makes the layoffs a mandatory subject of bargaining to the Guild, but notes that as with the issues around the

decision was within the entrepreneurial control of the County. CP 8-13. Neither the letter opinion nor findings and conclusions entered by the court indicate which specific facts or factors were weighed or what weight was given to these factors. The decision was limited to a declaratory judgment and directed no remedial order against the Guild for refusal to bargain. CP 13. The Guild and PERC have separately appealed this order. CP 5-6, 15.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Scope of Review: On Appeal of Summary Judgment This Court Reviews the Record De Novo

This case is currently before the court on appeal from cross-motions for summary judgment by the County and the Guild. Summary judgment is granted where there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). An appellate court reviews a summary judgment order de novo, engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Kitsap Cnty. v. Kitsap Cnty. Corr. Officers' Guild, Inc.*, 179 Wn. App. 997, 320 P.3d 70 (2014). The court should construe the facts and reasonable inferences in favor of the nonmoving party and summary judgment is only appropriate if reasonable persons could reach only one conclusion from the evidence

labor cost motive, the record is at best conflicting. Compare Cousins, CP 92-96 with Newlin, CP 58.

presented. Id.; Imperato v. Wenatchee Valley Coll., 160 Wn. App. 353, 357-58, 247 P.3d 816, 818 (2011).

"The trial court's findings on summary judgment are superfluous and this court need not consider them." *Lewis v. Krussel*, 101 Wn. App. 178, 182, 2 P.3d 486, 489 (2000). It is unnecessary for the trial court to enter findings on summary judgment. CR 52(a)(5)(B). Any that are entered may be disregarded on appeal, because summary judgment determines issues of law, not issues of fact. *Redding v. Virginia Mason Med. Ctr.*, 75 Wn. App. 424, 426, 878 P.2d 483, 484-85 (1994).

B. Kitsap County Has the Burden of Proof

The moving party on summary judgment, in this case the County, bears the burden of showing the absence of a material issue of fact. *Id.* at 426.

In addition, in an unfair labor practice case, the ultimate burdens of pleading, prosecution and proof lie with the party asserting the complaint — in this case the County. *Kitsap County*, Decision 11610-A (PECB, 2013), at 3. The determination as to when the duty to bargain exists is a mixed question of law and fact. *Id.* at 3-4; WAC 391-45-550. Where an employer (County) asserts that a union (Guild) seeks to bargain a permissive subject, "using a balancing test means that some burden is placed on the union to produce evidence showing that the subject is related

to wages, hours, and working conditions; however, the employer is ultimately responsible for proving its case." *Spokane International Airport*, Decision 7889-A (PECB, 2003), at 15.

C. Refusal to Bargain Over the Decision to Layoff Employees Taken to Reduce Labor Costs is an Unfair Labor Practice

Whether a layoff decision is a mandatory subject of bargaining is a perennial problem which requires a close, fact specific weighing of factors. While the decision to layoff employees is not always a subject for bargaining, the courts and PERC generally hold that where an employer undertakes layoffs in order to reduce labor costs, employees may bargain over the decision and a refusal by the employer is an unfair labor practice.

In this section PERC reviews the factors relied upon PERC and courts in conducting this balancing and the general understandings on how these factors should be applied. In the following section, these factors will then be applied to the facts in the record, considered in a light most favorable to the Guild, to illustrate the lower court's error – issuing a ruling on summary judgment.

Under the Public Employees' Collective Bargaining Act (PECBA), Chapter 41.56 RCW, a public employer such as the County has a duty to bargain with the exclusive bargaining representative of its employees. RCW 41.56.030(4). An employer commits an unfair labor practice (ULP)

when it refuses to engage in collective bargaining on a mandatory subject of bargaining. RCW 41.56.140. Likewise, a union such as the Guild commits an unfair labor practice when it refuses to bargain on mandatory subjects. RCW 41.56.150. It is also an unfair labor practice to demand to impasse bargaining over a permissive subject. *Kitsap Cnty.*, 179 Wn. App. at 998.

For a mandatory subject, the bargaining obligation applies to both the decision and the effect of the decision. For a permissive subject of bargaining, the obligation applies only to the effect of the decision, not to the decision itself. *Id.* at 997-998.

1. Elements of a Refusal to Bargain Unfair Labor Practice

An employer violates RCW 41.56.140(4) if it implements a unilateral change of a mandatory subject of bargaining without having fulfilled its bargaining obligations. As a general rule, an employer has an obligation to refrain from unilaterally changing terms or conditions of employment unless it: (1) gives notice to the union; (2) provides an opportunity for bargaining prior to making a final decision; (3) bargains in good faith, upon request; and (4) bargains to agreement or impasse concerning any mandatory subjects of bargaining. *Skagit County*, Decision 8746-A (PECB, 2006).

For employees like these represented by the Guild, who are eligible for interest arbitration, an employer may not unilaterally implement its desired change after bargaining to a lawful impasse, but rather must obtain an award through interest arbitration. See Snohomish County, Decision 9770-A (PECB, 2008). The interest arbitration requirements are also applicable to situations where an employer desires to make a mid-term change to terms and conditions of employment. See City of Yakima, Decision 9062-A (PECB, 2006).

In deciding refusal to bargain cases, PERC ordinarily focuses on the circumstances as a whole and on whether an opportunity for meaningful bargaining existed. *Kitsap County*, Decision 11610-A (PECB, 2013); *Washington Public Power Supply System*, Decision 6058-A (PECB, 1998). If the employer's decision or action has already occurred when the employer notifies the union (*a fait accompli*), the notice is not considered timely, and the union will be excused from the need to demand bargaining. *Washington Public Power Supply System*, Decision 6058-A (PECB, 1998). If the union is adequately notified of a contemplated change at a time when there is still an opportunity for bargaining which could influence the employer's planned course of action, and the employer's behavior does not seem inconsistent with a willingness to bargain, if requested, then a *fait accompli* will not be found.

Id., citing Lake Washington Technical College, Decision 4721 (PECB, 1994).

Here, the previous procedural history strips this case down to the single question as to whether the decision to layoff the two correctional employees is one over which the County is required to bargain. If the answer is "yes", then the County has committed an unfair labor practice under RCW 41.56.140. If the answer is "no", then the Guild has committed an unfair labor practice under RCW 41.56.150.

2. Determining Mandatory Subjects of Bargaining

Mandatory bargaining subjects include "personnel matters, including wages, hours, and working conditions." RCW 41.56.030(4). Permissive bargaining subjects include "[m]anagerial decisions that only remotely affect 'personnel matters,' and decisions that are predominantly 'managerial prerogatives.'" *Kitsap Cnty.*, 179 Wn. App. at 998.

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