### NO. 46735-6-II

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### KITSAP COUNTY CORRECTIONAL OFFICERS' GUILD, INC.,

Appellant,

vs.

#### PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT RELATIONS COMMISSION,

Appellant,

vs.

#### KITSAP COUNTY and KITSAP COUNTY SHERIFF,

Respondents.

#### **RESPONDENTS' OPENING BRIEF**

TINA R. ROBINSON Kitsap County Prosecuting Attorney

JACQUELYN M. AUFDERHEIDE, WSBA No. 17374 DEBORAH A. BOE, WSBA No. 39365 Deputy Prosecuting Attorneys 614 Division Street, MS-35A Port Orchard, WA 98366-4676 (360) 337-4992

##

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

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> PERC ruled there was no duty to bargain layoffs in the following decisions: *Wenatchee School District*, Decision 3240-A (PECB, 1990); *North Franklin School District*, Decision 5945-A (PECB, 1998); *City of Anacortes*, Decision 6830-A (PECB, 2000); *Tacoma-Pierce County Health Dept.*, Decision 6929-A (PECB, 2001); *State Attorney General*, Decision 10733 (PSRA, 2010); *State Corrections*, Decision 11060 (PSRA, 2011); *City of Kirkland*, Decision 10883-A (PECB, 2012); *City of Bellevue*, Decision 10830-A (PECB, 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> In the following cases, PERC ruled that there was a duty to bargain layoffs: *City of Centralia*, Decision 5282-A (PECB, 1996); and, *Griffin School District*, Decision 10489-A (PECB, 2010).

a mandatory subject of bargaining.<sup>93</sup>

In 2010, hearing examiners for PERC heard nearly identical cases and ruled exactly opposite on the duty to bargain issue. The cities of Bellevue and Kirkland laid off their dispatchers because of the formation of NORCOM for centralized dispatching services and the unions argued that the decision to layoff dispatchers was a mandatory subject of bargaining. In *City of Bellevue*, the hearing examiner ruled that the decision to layoff dispatchers "had a major impact on employees" terms and conditions of employment" and therefore was a mandatory subject of bargaining. However, in *City of Kirkland*, the hearing examiner ruled that the decisions concerning staffing are within the managerial prerogatives of public employers and as such, it was a permissive issue. In 2012, PERC reversed the hearing examiner in *City of Bellevue* and affirmed the hearing examiner's decision in *City of Kirkland* in determining that a reduction in staffing is not a mandatory bargaining issue.<sup>94</sup>

PERC's earlier inconsistent decisions lie in its distinction between "saving labor costs" which comes from *Fibreboard* and "economic shut

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> Technical Employees Association v King County, Decisions 10576-A, 10577-A, 10578-A (PECB, 2009) (PERC focused solely on the "labor savings" motivation for furloughs, however, it clarified in *City of Bellevue* several years later that "labor savings" is a major factor when the work was contracted out).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> City of Kirkland, Decision 10883-A (PECB, 2012); City of Bellevue, Decision 10830-A (PECB, 2012).

down" which comes from First Nat'l.95 However in 2012, in City of

*Bellevue*, PERC separates the factors in a balancing test for when an employer shuts down part of its business citing to *First Nat'l*, and for when it is contracting out the work citing to *Fibreboard*.<sup>96</sup> The Guild and PERC argue as if all staff reductions must neatly fit into the category of "labor savings" which is specific to contracting out labor, or in the category of an operational shutdown. It is a false dichotomy because there are many other reasons for staff reductions including the one in this case – a public entity's statutory budget obligations.<sup>97</sup> Indeed, PERC and Courts have emphasized that the analysis is fact intensive so every situation cannot neatly fit one category or the other or be oversimplified.<sup>98</sup>

PERC provides a "non-exclusive list of relevant factors" primarily from *City of Bellevue*.<sup>99</sup> However, PERC and the Guild focus on whether the employer had an economic motivation to layoff corrections officers,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> Compare Wenatchee School District, Decision 3240-A (PECB, 1990); City of Anacortes, Decision 6830-A (PECB, 2000); and, State Corrections, Decision 11060 (PRSA, 2011); with City of Centralia, Decision 5282-A (PECB, 1996); and Technical Employees Association v King County, Decisions 10576-A, 10577-A, 10578-A (PECB, 2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> *City of Kirkland*, Decision 10883-A (PECB, 2012); *City of Bellevue*, Decision 10830-A (PECB, 2012) (distinguishing between the decision to go out of business and the decision to contract out work).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> This case was remanded to Superior Court to do a detailed factual analysis of the entire record, not to neatly fit the layoffs into one of two categories.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> PERC Opening Brief, p. 26 (The determination of a mandatory subject of bargaining is fact-intensive. . .")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> PERC Opening Brief, p. 21-26

and do not consider the other factors.<sup>100</sup> The emphasis on this single factor is not appropriate when the layoffs are the consequence of a budget reduction. In *City of Bellevue*, PERC clarified that the employer's reason for layoffs is a factor for either scenario, but "labor savings" is a significant factor when the employer contracts out work.<sup>101</sup>

The Trial Court allowed PERC to intervene on remand in order to assist the court in determining what factors should be considered in a balancing test.<sup>102</sup> Although PERC provided factors for the Court to consider, it neglected to apply the *First Nat'l* factors. We do so below:<sup>103</sup>

 "Would bargaining over this sort of decision advance the process of resolving conflicts between labor and management and advance the purposes of the bargaining law?"<sup>104</sup>

In determining which issues should be bargained, "Congress had

no expectation that the elected union representative would become an

<sup>100</sup> *City of Bellevue*, Decision 10830-A (PECB, 2012) (In determining whether contracting out gave rise to a duty to bargain, the Court in *Fibreboard* found the following factors to be significant: 1. What was the employer's level of control and interaction with the new workforce? 2. What was the employer's reason for the decision to contract out the work? 3. What was the fee arrangement? 4. What is the effect on the basic operation of the company? 5. What effect would bargaining have on the employer's ability to manage the company? The Court found the motivation to reduce labor costs to be significant.")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> *Id.* (Significant factors under the *First Nat'l* "operational shutdown" situation "1. Would bargaining over this sort of decision advance the process of resolving conflicts between labor and management?. . .2. What was the reason for the decision? . . .3. What control does the union have over the cause of the decision? . . . ") <sup>102</sup> RP 7/7/2014 p. 19 and 22. PERC is not due special deference in this case because the

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> RP 7/7/2014 p. 19 and 22. PERC is not due special deference in this case because the Court is not reviewing a PERC decision; PERC is a party with a limited role.
 <sup>103</sup> PERC Opening Brief, p. 28-29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> PERC Opening Brief, p. 21-22.

equal partner in the running of the business enterprise in which the union's members are employed."<sup>105</sup> The Washington Supreme Court recognized that reduction in budget and staffing are essential managerial prerogatives and not amenable to bargaining. However, the impact of the staff reductions was amenable to bargaining and was bargained by the parties.

As has already been demonstrated, bargaining the budget would put the Sheriff and Board in an impossible situation between the taxpayers and the unions which would frustrate the collective bargaining process. Furthermore, collective bargaining over budgetary decisions "could be a powerful tool for achieving delay, a power that might be used to thwart management's intentions in a manner unrelated to any feasible solution the union might propose."<sup>106</sup>

PERC and the Guild present an unrealistic scenario of the parties sitting down together as equal partners to solve the County's budgetary crisis. In *Bay City Education Ass'n*, the court squarely addressed this argument in holding that bargaining over allocation of the budget is "not the type of situation where labor concessions may have alleviated the employer's economic considerations."<sup>107</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> First Nat'l. 452 U.S. at 676.

<sup>106</sup> Id. at 683.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> Bay City Education Ass'n 430 Mich. at 382.

# 2. <u>"What control does the union or the employer have over the cause of the decision?</u>"<sup>108</sup>

As the facts indisputably demonstrate here, the cause of the decision to reduce the budget was declining tax revenues, increasing costs, loss of contracts, and annexations. Neither party can control the revenues the County receives. Chief Newlin and the Sheriff had no choice in making cuts in every area possible in order to cut the budget by nearly \$1 million and only as a last resort, reduced staffing by two officers.

The Guild and PERC claim that the Guild has control over its wages and could have made economic concessions and the parties should have at least tried to bargain the decision. The Guild and PERC miss the point of this factor, because having control over wage concessions is not the same as having control over the cause of the decision. And because neither had control over declining revenues, rising expenditures, and the adopted budget, it is not appropriate for collective bargaining.

In addition, the Guild claims that it not only wanted to bargain about making economic concessions but wanted to bargain over the employer's business decisions:

> [The Guild] may be able to analyze the employer's budget situation and suggest alternative solutions to achieve the required budgetary savings. Alternatively, the Guild may be able to offer ideas to achieve certain operational efficiencies that may permit

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> PERC Opening Brief, p. 24.

the employer to achieve some, or all, of the required savings without the need for layoffs.<sup>109</sup>

As the Supreme Court has recognized, a union is not an equal business partner in the running of the business, so the employer does not have to bargain or analyze its budget allocation with the union. To mandate that an employer bargain with the union over budget allocation and "operational efficiencies" would completely abridge the employer's prerogative to manage its business. This is addressed more fully in the next factor below.

## 3. "Would bargaining about the matter significantly abridge the employer's freedom to manage the public's business?"110

This factor was recognized by the Trial Court as the most critical in this case given that the County has a duty to implement a budget. PERC concedes that "it is generally recognized that an employer has no duty to bargain concerning a decision to reduce its budget." Furthermore, PERC states that "the number of staff assigned to a shift is generally considered to be a management prerogative."<sup>111</sup> PERC further admits that the County's argument that the "importance and fundamental political nature of the County budget process" is supported in the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> Guild Opening Brief, p. 32.<sup>110</sup> PERC Opening Brief, p. 24-25.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> Id.

record.<sup>112</sup> And indeed, the County has shown in detail how bargaining over the budget would severely abridge the employer's freedom to manage its business and its duty to the taxpayers and that budget allocation lies at the core of entrepreneurial control.

In *City of Bellevue*, PERC clarified which factors are significant in two situations: where the employer replaces union workers with contract workers, and where the employer shuts down part of its business. Although this case does not fit neatly in either category it is more akin to an operational shutdown and therefore a permissive subject of bargaining. Considering the totality of the circumstances including County mandated budget cuts of which the parties had no control and which no amount of bargaining can resolve, there can be no mandatory duty to bargain layoffs.

## E. The Guild Has Waived Its Right to Bargain Over Layoffs When It Agreed to Adopt by Reference Civil Service Rules That Dictate the Layoff Process.

Whether permissive or mandatory, the Guild waived its right to bargain over layoffs when it agreed to adopt the Civil Service Rules which detail when and how layoffs happen. PERC, the NLRB, and the courts have recognized that an employer does not have to bargain over a contractual provision which has already been explicitly and knowingly

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> *Id.* at p. 28.

negotiated by the parties.<sup>113</sup> The County asserts an affirmative defense of waiver *by* contract which should not be confused with a contract waiver provision *in* a contract.

This critical but often confused distinction was explained by the Washington Supreme Court in *Pasco Police Officers Ass'n*: "Waivers 'most often arise during the pendency of a collective bargaining agreement and focus on whether a union has given its assent (or waived objections) to unilateral employer action."<sup>114</sup> Waivers are generally a permissive subject because they are "a subject a labor organization freely chooses to place on the table," and as such, the employer cannot insist that the union bargain a waiver.<sup>115</sup>

The *Pasco* Court distinguishes a contract waiver from the affirmative defense of waiver by contract. "Waivers are defenses used by *employers* to a charge that they have acted unilaterally without satisfying their obligation to bargain with the union."<sup>116</sup> In *Pasco*, the Court determined that a management rights clause was a mandatory subject of bargaining because most of the terms of the clause addressed mandatory

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> See, Pasco Police Officers' Assn. v. City of Pasco, 132 Wn.2d 450, 462-63, 938 P.2d 827 (1997) (extensive discussion by the Washington Supreme Court of the history of contract waivers in collective bargaining).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> Id. at 462 citing N.L.R.B. v. McClatchy Newspapers Inc., 964 F.2d 1153, 1157 (D.C. Cir. 1992).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> *Id.* at 463.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> *Id.* 

subjects of bargaining.<sup>117</sup>

The contract provision at issue is not a waiver but a bargained provision adopting Civil Service Rules:

Except as expressly limited by its terms, nothing in this Agreement shall supersede any matter delegated to the Kitsap County Civil Service Commission by State law or by ordinance, resolution or laws of or pertaining to the County of Kitsap and such Commission shall continue to have primary authority over subjects within the scope of its jurisdiction and authority. If there then should be a conflict between any provisions of this Agreement and Civil Service, then the provisions of this Agreement shall govern.<sup>118</sup>

Thus, the parties negotiated a process for layoffs by adopting by reference

the Civil Service Rules.<sup>119</sup>

Once the parties have bargained and agreed on a contract term, they waive bargaining on that term (a waiver *by* contract), but that does not transform every agreed term in an agreement to a contract waiver otherwise, by definition, every negotiated term in the contract would be a waiver which is an absurd result. For example, a contract waiver<sup>120</sup> in this case would be the Guild relinquishing its right to bargain layoffs altogether, essentially allowing the County to take unilateral action on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> *Id.* at 467-68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> CP 1158

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> CP 1163-1164 ("The Appointing Authority may layoff any employee . . . whenever such action is made necessary by reason of a shortage of work or funds . . . layoff of probationary or regular employees shall be made in reverse of seniority . . .")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> Waiver is defined as "the voluntary relinquishment or abandonment – express or implied – of a legal right or advantage." Black's Law Dictionary,  $8^{th}$  Ed.

how and when to layoff employees. Instead, the parties satisfied their duty to bargain layoffs by agreeing to the process for layoffs in the Civil Service Rules.

Consequently, if the Court determines that layoffs are a mandatory subject of bargaining, the above provision does not expire and remains status quo.<sup>121</sup> Because the Management Rights<sup>122</sup> and Civil Service provisions remain in effect at the expiration of the contract, the County has a valid claim of waiver by contract. The Guild cannot have it both ways claiming provisions are permissive because they are a waiver and expire with the contract, but also that the provisions are a mandatory subject of bargaining. Moreover, if the Court determines that it is a waiver and expires, then the Civil Service Rules would be applicable because the Rules do not conflict with the Collective Bargaining Agreement.

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